UNSEREDESTERES S DT SRRRCT L CAURT
EASTERN DISTRICT O MICHIGAN
SOUTHEIN DIVISION

VEENT ZucH, et-al., ; ) :
A Plaintiffs ) Civil Action
; ' v. : ) NO. 38757
A ; JOHN H. HUSSEY, et al., )
| g Defendants )
. O
) .
MEMORANDUM OPINICHN AND ORDER
: : on August 16, 1972, plaintiffs filed this action pursuant to

28 USC 8§ 1343(4) and 42 USC 8§ 3612 to cbtain remedy for alleged violations
of the fair housing provisions contained in Title VIII of the Civil Rights

- Act of 1968, 42 USC 8 3601, et seg. (The Fair Housing Act). This suit is a

.

class action being brought before the court-without jury against certain
named defendants as representatives of larger classes composed of membsrs

of the real estate industry in the Detroit Metropolitan Area. Subsequent to

-

the filing cf the action, three motions to dismiss were filed by various
i 3
defendants. A metion for a preliminary injunction was also filed by the

plaintiffs and hearings were held on the moticn in November and December of

1972. On instructions from the Court, the matter was adjourned on Pegember 7,
1972, without a date and the parties were directed to attempt to negotiate a
settlement. The parties were not able to negotiate.ajéettlement and requested

that the Court determine certain issues as a matter of law to facilitate the

+  proceedings. The Court concurred with the request and permitted the parties
to submit any supplemental kriefs they desired. Arguments were heard on July 3,
1973. The matters raised in arguments and briefs and the rulings of the Court

are presented below.
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One Motion to Dismiss by Defendant Durso Real Estate, Inc., has
“been granted by a Consent Order of Dismissal filed on Julu 13, 1973.




In their complaint, plaintiffs have chargalcertain defendants with
making uninvited solicitations of residential real estate listings Insvaelas
tion of the Fair Housing Act. Specifically, they contend that solicitations

of listings are being made in racially transitional aréas of Metropolitan

Detroit where the solicitation itself implies race, even though no racial

statements are being used, and provides a racial inducement for the sale of

homes in violation of Section 3604(e) of the Fair Housing Act. Defendants

contend that mere solicitation of a real estate listihg, regardless as to where

it is made, is not a violation under the provisions of the Act.

It is a well known fact that racial tensions and anxieties are

generated when blacks move into most all-white neighborhoods. It is also

well known that many real estate agencies attempﬁ to exploit such a situation
by making constant, uninvited solicitations for the sale of homes. In most-
instances, this aqtivity (commonly feferred to as "blockbusting”) has éroven
to be an effective means of stimulafing the sale of homes in racially transi-
tional ;eighborboodS'because ikt capitalizés upon the racial fears of whites

by reminding them that blacks are moving into the area. The process is

articulated quite clesnlESERNI N Scates v, Mitchell, 335 F. Supp. 1004,

1005, (N.D. Ga. 1971), where the United States District Court for the Northern

District of Georgla stated:

"The evidence at the trial disclosed many illuminating things
about what happens in a residential neighborhocd when it kecomes
racially transitional. For examnple, if these cases are typical
= - and the Court krelieves they are - - the following conse-
quences can be predicted as inevitable and beyond dispute:
First, a sense of panic and urcency immediately grips the neigh-
borhood and rumprs circulate and recirculate about the extent
of the intrusion (real or fancied), the effecct on property values
and the quality of education. Second, there are sales and rumors
of sales, some true some false. Third, the frenzied listing and
sale of houses attracts real estate agents like flies to a
leaking jug of honey. Fourth, even those owners who do not sell
are sorely tempted as their neighbors move away, and hence those
who rerain are peculiarly vulnerable. Fifth, the names of success-—
A ful agents are exchanged and recommended Letwecen homeowncrs and
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Lrequently the aants arec called by the owners themselves,

Irf not to make a listing then ay least to get an up—-to-date
appraisal. Constant solicitation of listings goes on by all
agents cither by house-to-house calls and/or by mail and/or

by, telephone, to the point where owners and residents are drive:.

almost to distraction.

"In this maelstrom the atrosphercis neccssaiily.chargéd with
Race, whether mentioned or not, and as a result there is very
little cause or necessity for an agent to make direct repre-
sentations as to race or as to what is going on. On the contra:r’
both sides already know, all tco well, what 1s goling on. In
short, for an agent to get a listing or make a sale because of
racial tensions In such an arca 1is relatively easy, whereas the
direct mention ef race in making the sale is superflous and
wholly unnecessary.” (Emphasis by the Court.)

Section 3604 (e) of the Fair Housing Act makes it unlawful:

: For profit, to induce or attempt to induce any person to sell

' or ramt anghEse gty roeresentaticns regarding the entry
or prospective entru/tB the neightorhood of a person or persons.
of a PO ee o rel igicn, or national origin.”

> ¢

The purpose of this section is to prevent persons from preying

vpon the fears of property owners in racially transiticnal areas and inducing

0 e EB A

panic selling which results in community instability. United States v. Mitck

327 F. Supp. 476, 479 (N.D. Ga. 1971). In construing the term "representatic:

as used in the section, this Court recognizes that each provision of the Fair

Housing Act is to be given a liberal construction in order for 1t to accompli.

its purpose. See United States v. Northside Realtv Ass. (No. 13932, N.D. Ga.,

December 29, 1971). In that regard, the representations prohibited by Sectic:
3604 (e) include thes subtle, as well as the more obvious, forms of racial induc’

ments to sell, It is possible therefore for a representation to be a violatic

.of the section even i1f race is not explicitly mentioned. See United States

v. Mintzes, 304 F. Supp. 1305 (D. Md. 1969).

A test for determining what conduct constitutes a prohibited

representation under Section 3604 (e) was provided in United States v. Mitche

327 F. Supp 476 (N.D. Ga. 1971), where the DiStrict Coyrs stated:




YA 83604 (c) !repromERraERS" . « < would be any acts or

words that would be likely to co. /ey to a reasonable man,

under the circumstances, the idea that members of a particu-

lar race, color, religion or national origin are or may be
aptering his neighborliged.” Of course tetfall within g 3604(e)
the. representation must also be made for profit and it mus& be
made to induce the sale of tha pérson's preoperty." (Baphasis by
the Court.)

This cohr; accepts the above mentioned test as a valid and viable

séandard by which to determiﬂe prohibited representations under Scction 3604 (e)
and concludes that uginvitcd solicitations of real éstate listings in racially
transitional neighborhoods are prohibited representations under the.standard

e it can be established (1) that the solicitations ;re made for profit, (2)
thatttheusoliéitations are intended to induce the sale of a dwelling, and (3)
that the solicitationé would convey to a reasonable man, under the circumstances,
the idea that membe;s of a particular race are or may be entering the neighbor-

hood.

. STEERING ON A RACIAL BASIS ; s

Plaintiffs contend that steering on % racial basis (”stééring”f
is prohibited by that portion of Section 3604(a) of the Fair Housing Act which
makes it unlawful to "otherwise mak; unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any
person because of raée‘" As defined by plaintiffs; steering would include any
word br aé:tion by a real estate broker or salesman which 1s used to influerice

the choice of a prospective homebuyer on a racial basis.

Section 3604 (a) provides that it shall be unlawful:
"To refuse to sell or rent after the making of a bena fide
offer, or to refuse to negotiate for the sale or rental of,

or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any
person because of race, color, religion or national origin.”

This section contains both specific and general prohibitions.

The specific prohibitions make it unlawful, on the basis of race, (1) to

refuse éo sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer, and (2) to refuse

?-n
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to negotiate for a sale or rental., These two prohibitions are applicable
iIn unmistakable circumstances. Under the general provision, the section

makes it unlawful to "otherwise-make unavailable" housing or to deny housing

- because of race. The foregoihg phraseology appears to be as broad as Congress

could have made it, and all practices which have the effect of making dwellings

unavailable on the basis of race are therefore uniawful. In the apblication of

. Section 3604 (a) with this broad prohibition, it has been held that the failure

to provide a black applicant with necessary and correct information concerning
what he must do to become a tenant discourages and impedes his application
and results in his exclusicn fren apartments because of race. United

States wlilegEVReslo/ideciiilens Goxrn. , 437 F. 2d 7221 (5th .Cir. 1971); See also

ggifcd States PO ER S {dle. 6541-71-P., S.D. Ala., Jamuary.27, 1972). It has
also beeﬁ held that the imposition of more burdensome applications procédures,
of delaying tactics, and of various forms of discburagement by resident managers
and rental ageuts SEESERENtes a violation not only by those who impose these
procedural roadblocks, but also by top management and owners who fail to set
forth objective and feviewéble procedures for apartment application and rental.

United States v. e R e uction Company, (No. C-71-1165 ACH, N.D. Calif.

February 12, 1973).

The same principles which were developed in the above case with
fespect to the prohibitions under Section 3604(a) are applicable to circumstances
involving prospective homebuyers. Accordingly, any action by a real estate

agent which in any way impedes, delays or discourages a prospective homebuyer

from purchasing housing on a racial basis is unlawful. This is in accord with




IR o thion ‘taken 1n Mayers w. Ridléy, 465 F. 2d 630, 652-3:(pR.C. Cir. 1972)

Whiha thd Court of Appeals for theDistrict of Coluwmbia stated that the Fair
Housing Act was intended to have "the broadest objectives and scope" and to
prohibit rnot only open, direct disgrimination but also all practices which
have a racially discouraging effect.
: '1,.. . - B

It is the opinion of this Court that when a real estate agent
actively undertakes an effort to influence the choice of a prospective home-
buger on a racial basis, the agent either qirectlg ersindi rectlildbiscoprages
the proééecti&e homebuyer f%om purchasing ; home in a particular area and
fbstérs the perpetuation ofaraciallg.segregated communities where available
housing has been traditionally denied td'blacks because of their race.
The Court, therefore, concludes as a matter of law that steering is a violation

of Section 3604(a) of the Fair Housing Law.

ADYISSION OF EVIDENCE OF TELEPHONE SOLICITATIONS

biuring the course of the hearing on plaintiffs' Motion for a

P4
s

Préliminary Injuﬁéti@n, plaintiffs called as a witness Mr. James Schmitt for

the purpose of proving that Defendant Harrison-Moore made an overt racial

-

Fepresentation in vielation of Section 3604(e) of the Fair Housing Act.
ME, Schmitt testified that in August 1972, he received a telephone call frcm
& party who ¢laiméd to be calling on behalf of Defendant Harrison-Moore Realty,

Inc. (hereinafter referred to as Defendant Harrison-Moore). When he was asked

e

Vto relate the substance of the telephone conversation, Defendant Harrison-Moore
objected to the admission of the testimony on the ground that no foundation had
been laid to prove the call in fact came from said defendant, and that, in the.
abéence of such foundatién, the testimony was inadmissible. The Court permitted
the testimony to be entered on a separate record with the understanding that

the testimony would be striken if it was found after a hearing on the matter
that the teétfmohg was inadmissible. _

i



’

Hartzell v, Unifed SEaas) 2NN 2ANE5 69857 8, (8ith Cir. 1934); United States w.

the identity of the caller. This determination is within the discretion of

. the caller before there is sufficient proof of the defendant's identity as the

The witness in this instance did not initiate the teleplione call

0

and did not recognize the voice of the caller. Plaintiffs contend that the

telephone ccnversation should be admitted against Defendant Harrison=-Moore

_dn spite of this because there is circumstantial evidence which corroborates

the statements by the caller that he was an agent of Defendant Harrison-Hoore.

The circumstantial evidence on which plaintiffs rely are the dacks that: | (1)

Defendant Harrison-Koore has admitted making telephone calls to residents of
Northwest Detroit to determine whether they were "intérested in listing thade
pbroperty with it"; (2) the éerson who called Hr; Schmitt was making the same
type solicitation, except that racial remarks Qere used;ard (3) a number of
other persons have stated in affidavits that they received telephone calls
from individuals claiming to be agents of Defendant Harrison=Koore. .

It is well established law with respect to telephone calls, tbaf,
if the person testifying does not recognize the voiée of the calliess “the

surrounding circumstances may be sufficient to establish the identity of the

galler and warrant it wdmission of the testimony. Van Riper v. United States,

13 . 24 96] (Zd Gipgeilit s wis v. Unitaed States, 90 P, 24 243 (lst Cir.
1937). Plaintiffs and Defendant Harrison-toore agree on this rule of law,

but disagree on what constitutes sufficient circumstantial evidence to establish

the trial judge. United States v, Johnston, 318 F., 2d_288, 292 (6th Cir. 1963).

A review of the cases on the subject shows that the circumstantial evidence

must establish that it was improbable that anyone other than the defendant was

’

caller. Van Pirer v. United States, supra; Jarvis v. United States, supra;

LoBue, 180 F. Supp. 955 (S.D. N.Y. 1960).
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The circumstantial evidence 1in thib instance is sufficient to
. establish that Defendant Harrison-Moore did make solicitations for real estate
listings by telephorie® which were similar to the solicitation made by the person
calling Mr. é&hﬁitt; however, the evidence is not sufficient enough to establish
& SISOt was improb&bie that_aﬁyone other than an agent of Defendant Harrisonf
Moore made the telephore call to Mr. Schmitt. The record suggegts that many
compe?ing real estate agents were making telephohe solicitations for real estate
listings in the same area and at the same time as Mr. Schmitt's caller. Except
for the fact that the caller stated that he was calling in behalf of Defendant
Harr&son-Moore, therg 1s nothing else in the conversation which suggest that
: this particular cal@ could have come from only the defendant.A In view of this,
this Court finds as a matter of law that Mr. Sckmitt's testimony about the
- substance of the telephone conversation is inadmissible ‘as evidence of Defen&ant
Héttié@ﬁ*ﬁéoré's céén.uct, ThisCourtiis mindful of plaintiffg' claim that
» ; Eiéékbusting by telephéne is difficult to prosecute. Nevertheless, justice
.féquireé that the  jdeat ity cor the caller be reliably established before the
.Sﬁbstagée 6f telephorné éonversations is admissible as proéf of a defendant'’s

-

. . actions.

! - At the hearing éon December 6, 1972, plaintiffs also sought to intro-
] duce Mr. Schimitt's testimony for the purpose of showing the efforts to influence
the racial ¢limate in £ke community. Such testircny would be relevant to the

; i question of whether of not uninvited solicitations of residential real estate

23 5 ; by some person or persons
listings were being made /in violation of Section 3604 (e). herefore, the

testimony éoncerning the telephone conversation will be admitted for this limited

-

A purpose.

KOTIONS TO DISMISS

There are currently two motions before the Court to dismiss the

. Cémplaint with respeet to certain defendants. One mction seeks to have the
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Complaint dismissed with respéct to defeiadant Frank Jackson d/b/a Grand
%,
Oaks Realty Company. The Court will deny this motion. The other motion
seeks to have -the Cemplaint dismissed as to Defendants Miller Brothers Realty

Company and W. V. Cohn. The Court defers ruling on this motion until after

further hearings have been held on the matter.

ORDER

In accordance with the above, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:

l. That Defendant Frank Jackson's Motion to Dismiss be, and the

same 1s, denied; and
i

2. That all parties appear before this Court on Novermber &, 19273

at 3:00 P.M. for a hearing on the remaining Motion to Dismiss and the Motion

for a Prelininary Injunction. All supplemental briefs shall be presented to

the Court on or befor. October 31, 1973

SEREN ) KEITH

DANON J. KEITH
U. §. District Judge

DATED: October 5/ - a7 s,
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